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Code No. 4185

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE HONORABLE CONNIE J. STEINHEIMER, CHIEF DISTRICT JUDGE

-oOo-

STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

BRENDAN DUNCKLEY,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. CR07-1728

Dept. No. 4

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL

THURSDAY, MARCH 6, 2008

RENO, NEVADA

Reported By: BECKY VAN AUKEN, CCR No. 418

F I L E D
Electronically

04-02-2008:10:55:02 AM
Howard W. Conyers
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 172843
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APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff: KELLI A. VILORIA
Deputy District Attorney
75 Court Street
Reno, Nevada 89520

For the Defendant: O'MARA LAW FIRM
BY: DAVID C. O'MARA, ESQ.
311 E. Liberty Street
Reno, Nevada 89501

Parole and Probation: LAURA PAPPAS

217



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Captions Unlimited of Nevada, Inc. (775) 746-3534 3

3

RENO, NEVADA, THURSDAY, MARCH 6, 2008, 9:03 A.M.

-oOo-

THE COURT: Brendan Dunckley.

MS. VILORIA: Kelli Viloria on behalf of the

State.

MR. O'MARA: Good morning. David O'Mara on

behalf of Mr. Dunckley. He's present in court today.

THE COURT: There's an amended Information in

this file. It's also the time for a motion to confirm.

Do you want to go forward on the amended

Information?

MR. O'MARA: No, Your Honor. We have reached an

agreement -- oh, yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Then I'll hand you a copy of

the Amended Information. You can review it with your

client.

MR. O'MARA: Thank you, Your Honor.

We have received a copy of the Amended

Information. Mr. Dunckley's name is correctly spelled on

line 12. It states, Count I, lewdness with a child under

the age of 14 years, a violation of NRS 201.230, and
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attempted sexual assault, a violation of NRS 193.330. We

waive the formal reading of this amended Information.

THE COURT: Are you ready to go forward and enter

a plea?

MR. O'MARA: Yes, Your Honor. I have provided

you with the original of the Guilty Plea Memorandum that

was signed. Mr. Dunckley desires to enter a plea of

guilty to the offense of lewdness with a child under the

age of 14 years, a violation of NRS 201.230, a felony, and

Count II, attempted sexual assault, a violation of

NRS 193.330, being an attempt to violate NRS 200.366, a

felony.

Mr. Dunckley understands that the consequences of

his plea of guilt to Count I is that he may be

imprisoned for a period of life in the Nevada Department

of Corrections with parole eligibility after ten years and

that he is not eligible for probation unless he satisfies

NRS 176.139, which certifies that he is not a high risk to

reoffend based upon current standards, and a psychiatric

or psychological evaluation to be completed pursuant to

NRS 176A.110. He also could be subject to a $10,000 fine,

and he understands that he'll be under lifetime

supervision.

He also understands the consequences of his plea
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of guilty to Count II, which is set forth in the Guilty

Plea Memorandum, that he would be -- could be imprisoned

for a period of 2 to 20 years in the Nevada State Prison,

and he's also not eligible for probation unless he

satisfies the same psychosexual and psychological

evaluations as set forth in Count I.

In exchange for his plea of guilty, Your Honor,

the State and counsel and Mr. Dunckley have agreed to

recommend the following:

The State will be free to argue for an

appropriate sentence. The State will not file additional

criminal charges resulting from the arrest in this case

and/or will refrain from pursuing additional and/or

transactionally-related offenses, including all counts

filed and dismissed in Reno Justice Court, Case

No. 2007-033884.

He understands that in entering his plea to

Count I, it is a legal fiction, pursuant to the plea

negotiations, to allow him to avoid the more serious

charge of sexual assault in the original Count I, and this

also allows him the opportunity to qualify for probation,

which would otherwise be unavailable.

THE COURT: Is that a complete statement of the

negotiations?
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MS. VILORIA: It is, Judge. Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Dunckley, do you understand these

plea negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor, I do.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about them?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you comfortable with the

representation you've received from counsel so far?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor, I am.

THE COURT: Did you read the Guilty Plea

Memorandum?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor, I have.

THE COURT: Did you understand it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about the

document?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about the

modifications to the typed document?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: And did you initial all of those

changes?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I did.

THE COURT: Did you sign the document?
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I did.

THE COURT: Are you aware that you have a right

to plead not guilty, have a trial by jury, be confronted

by the witnesses against you, bring witnesses here on your

own behalf, and testify or not testify at that jury trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand you have a right

against self-incrimination, you may assert that right by

refusing to testify, and the State must prove you guilty

beyond a reasonable doubt??

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Are you aware you'll be giving up all

of these rights if you plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I am.

THE COURT: I'm going to ask the clerk to read

the charge to which you're pleading, and then I'll ask if

you understand it.

(Whereupon, the Information was read

by the clerk.)

THE COURT: Is there anything about those charges

you do not understand?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand Count I is a legal

fiction?
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THE DEFENDANT: As far as what a legal fiction

is?

THE COURT: Yes. What is it about Count I that's

a legal fiction?

THE DEFENDANT: That per the agreement, we're

changing the original count down to a lower one and

pleading guilty to that so that probation can be an

option.

THE COURT: Are all the facts and circumstances

the same?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: It's just that it's a lewdness

instead of a sexual assault?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Did you do what it says you did in

the charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And what about Count II?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand that charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: Did you do what it says you did in

that charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.
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THE COURT: Has your attorney told you the

possible maximum penalties?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, he has.

THE COURT: I know he told me that he had, but

now you have to tell me what those are in your own words.

What is the penalty for Count I?

THE DEFENDANT: The first count is a felony

carrying a sentence of no less than 10 years to a life

sentence, eligible for parole after 10 years in the Nevada

State correctional facilities.

Count II will carry a felony, as well as Count I

will carry a lifetime supervision, and Count II will carry

a felony with no less than two years served in the Nevada

State correctional facilities with a maximum of 20 years,

as well as carrying a lifetime supervision penalty as

well, and a fine in the first count of up to $10,000.

THE COURT: Okay. And a fine in the second

count?

MS. VILORIA: There is no fine.

THE COURT: Okay.

Now, do you understand, with regard to Count I,

it's a penalty, a maximum penalty of life in prison?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: But you would be eligible for
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probation after you served 10 years.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: And do you understand that with

regard to Count II, it's a maximum penalty of 20 years,

but you could be eligible for probation -- for parole at a

date that I give you, but it could be no less than two

years?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Now, do you understand that probation

is not available on these charges unless you are certified

by a professional pursuant to NRS 176.139 to not represent

a high risk to reoffend as to both counts?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that with regard to

lifetime supervision, that even if you completed your term

of sentence, you've satisfied all your obligations, if you

violated the terms of your lifetime supervision, you would

be subject to being back in prison?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that's totally up

to me whether I run these charges concurrent or

consecutive?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand I'm free to
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sentence you up to and including the maximum allowed by

law?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Has anyone made any threats to get

you to enter these pleas?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone told you that you would be

guaranteed probation or any other particular result?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises or

representations to you to get you to enter these pleas

that you haven't told me about?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you have any doubt about what

you're doing here today?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand that you have a

jury trial scheduled for March 24th, and by pleading

guilty, that trial is off?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand this is a permanent

entry of plea?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You can't tell me in a week or two
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that you didn't understand what was happening. You have

to tell me that now.

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And you won't be able to change your

mind with regard to these pleas of guilt.

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: With everything I've asked and you

your answers, do you still wish to go forward?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you doing so of your own free

will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: How do you plead to Count I?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do you plead to Count II?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: The Court finds that your pleas are

voluntary, that you fully understand the nature of the

offenses charged and the consequences of your pleas.

Therefore, I will accept your pleas of guilt and we'll set

a date for sentencing.

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, there's been

negotiations with the district attorney's office to set

this out five to six months so that Mr. Dunckley can get
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sexual offender therapy during that period of time. And

basically the D.A. is giving him every opportunity to try

to qualify for probation and to do the things that will be

beneficial for him to present to you at sentencing. So

she's allowed for a five- to six-month extension so that

he can get those type of therapy classes, and so we'd ask

for that type of time before sentencing.

MS. VILORIA: Your Honor, my agreement is just to

see if this defendant is worthy of any type of grant of

probation, whether he can earn it or not. I want to see

what he does between now and then.

So I do not object to any type of continuance

that Mr. O'Mara is asking for to set out the sentencing

date.

THE COURT: Counsel approach.

(A sidebar was held off the record.)

THE COURT: Okay. What are the conditions of

Mr. Dunckley's release? Is he out on bail?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And what's your bail set at?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't remember. It's been a

year, Your Honor. I don't remember off the top of my

head.

THE COURT: We have two bails posted. One may be
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in the Reno Justice Court case.

It looks like it's 15,000 and 18,500, which seems

somewhat sufficient to me with regard to the bail. But I

am going to modify the terms and conditions of his release

to include Court Services supervision.

If you are going to do some sort of treatment,

then you need to do that and report that to Court

Services. And I want you reporting at least once a week

to Court Services so we know where you are and what you're

doing.

You must abstain from the use, possession, and

control of alcohol between now and the date you're

sentenced, and you can't use controlled substances.

So I just want to make sure you understand these

special conditions of your release. Do you?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Then that will be the order,

and I'll see you back at sentencing the clerk is about to

give.

THE CLERK: August 5th at 9:00 o'clock.

THE COURT: Between now and that date it's your

responsibility to make appointments with the Division of

Parole and Probation, to complete the evaluation. It's

further your responsibility to see that the psychological
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evaluation is conducted timely. And stay in touch with

Court Services.

MS. VILORIA: Your Honor, can we vacate the trial

date for March 24, '08?

THE COURT: That will be the order.

(Proceedings concluded.)

-oOo-
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STATE OF NEVADA, )
)

COUNTY OF WASHOE. )

I, BECKY VAN AUKEN, Certified Shorthand

Reporter of the Second Judicial District Court of the

State of Nevada, in and for the County of Washoe, do

hereby certify:

That I was present in Department No. 4 of the

above-entitled Court and took stenotype notes of the

proceedings entitled herein, and thereafter transcribed

the same into typewriting as herein appears;

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true

and correct transcription of my stenotype notes of said

proceedings.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, 04/02/2008.

/s/Becky Van Auken
BECKY VAN AUKEN, CCR No. 418
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Code No. 4185

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE HONORABLE CONNIE STEINHEIMER, DISTRICT JUDGE

-oOo-

STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

BRENDAN DUNCKLEY,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. CR07-1728

Dept. No. 4

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

SENTENCING

August 5, 2008

RENO, NEVADA

Reported By: LISA A. YOUNG, CCR No. 353
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APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff: KELLI ANNE VILORIA
Deputy District Attorney
Reno, Nevada

For the Defendant: DAVID C. O'MARA
Attorney at Law
Reno, Nevada

Parole and Probation: LUPE GARRISON

EXHIBITS MARKED ADMITTED

A - Report from Eng Counselling 5 5

B - Letter from Alamo Casino 5 5
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RENO, NEVADA, TUESDAY, AUGUST 5, 2008; 9:00 A.M.

-oOo-

THE COURT: Brendan Dunckley.

MS. VILORIA: Morning, Your Honor. Kelli Anne Viloria

on behalf of the State.

MR. O'MARA: David O'Mara on behalf of Mr. Dunckley.

THE COURT: This is the time set for sentencing. I am

in receipt of the presentence report dated July 17th, 2008.

I also have a document which was received by the Court

Clerk that has not been considered by the Court that has been

filed in.

Counsel, do you want the Court to consider the

document?

MS. VILORIA: The State does, Your Honor.

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, I don't think it has any

bearing on this case. But Mr. Dunckley can certainly tell you

why this has happened with regards to his child support and the

Sushi Club and we have no objection to the State introducing it.

THE COURT: Then the Court will review the document.

Okay. You had an opportunity to review the

presentence report with your client?

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, we have reviewed the

presentence report dated July 17th of 2008 with a few

corrections. Defense attorney is David O'Mara who is conflict
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counsel and not deputy public defender.

Also, under Category A and Category B in the charged

Information, the penalties for these charges should have

included that he may be in prison for a period of time and that

he is not eligible until a sexual evaluation is completed which

certifies that Mr. Dunckley does not represent a high risk to

re-offend.

That language and the language that was part of the

guilty-plea memorandum was not included in the presentence

report. I want to make the Court aware of the fact that

probation in both of these charges is available in this case.

While the laws have changed since the period of time when the

charge one began, it does not allow probation any more. So I

would like the Court to take that into consideration.

Other than that, we have no other corrections, Your

Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. You may proceed with argument.

MR. O'MARA: Okay. First, I would like to introduce

and have admitted two documents. One document is a letter from

a Leslie Dietsche (phonetic), if I may approach. Let me grab

the other document.

THE COURT: Why don't you grab everything, and the

Clerk will mark it all at one time.

MS. VILORIA: I have seen a copy of these, Judge.
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MR. O'MARA: There is also another copy from Eng

Counseling setting forth information about Mr. Dunckley's

clinical contact with Steven Eng as a sexual offender.

THE CLERK: Exhibits A and B marked.

(Exhibits A and B were marked for identification.)

THE COURT: Okay. Exhibit A is a report from Eng

Counseling, and there is no objection to its admission so I will

admit it. And Exhibit B is a letter from Alamo Casino and no

objection so I will admit that.

(Exhibits A and B were admitted into evidence.)

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, in regards to the Eng

Counseling, which is Exhibit A, you will notice that there are

numerous attendances by Mr. Dunckley for sexual-offender

counseling. He had individual sessions on March 3, 26 and

April 29th of this year.

He goes on to group attendance with Mr. Eng on 4/23.

You notice how the 4/30 has an absence? That was because he

went to his individual counseling the day before. Those are the

dates in which he did not attend group attendance because it was

the same week.

Mr. Dunckley informed me the 6/12 was a work

emergency. He basically went on a weekly basis to Eng

Counseling.

What we are going to ask for today, Your Honor, is
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that you not follow the recommendations of the Parole and

Probation and actually award or not award but grant Mr. Dunckley

the opportunity to be on probation for both of these charges.

One of the reasons is that when we were going through

negotiations in the settlement, that was one of the main reasons

to give him the opportunity. As you recall about five months

ago when we were in here during the change of plea, we set it

out five months to give him an opportunity to go to these

counseling sessions.

From the letter, you can see he started his counseling

sessions prior to the entry of the guilty-plea memorandum which

I believe was done on the 6th of March. He went religiously to

those counseling services.

He is really taking hold and finding out what is

making him do these bad things. He is trying to take

responsibility for his actions. I believe these therapy

sessions are working toward making him a better person and

someone who will be, at least, someone who will be a benefit to

our society.

As you can see from the letter from the Alamo Casino,

Mr. Dunckley has been a good person to his employers and other

people with regards to stepping up and doing things when not

everybody would do it with regards to helping and cleaning the

floor and things like that when there was a broken pipe when he

243



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Captions Unlimited of Nevada, Inc. 775-746-3534

7

wasn't required to do that. I think there are good things

involved that we need to look at in that regard.

Also, I have today Mr. Dunckley's mother in law who

would like to make a statement. Her name is Pam McFerren

M-c-f-e-e-r-e -- I apologize. M-c-f-e-r-r-e-n. And she would

like to make a statement, Your Honor, to the Court to ask for

probation as well.

THE COURT: You want her sworn, Ms. Viloria?

MS. VILORIA: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: You can come forward and stand next to Mr.

O'Mara.

MS. MCFERREN: I'm Brendan's mother in law, Pam. I

have known him for eight and a half years. He and my daughter

have quite a special relationship. He has four children, two by

a previous marriage. He is the soul provider of his home, his

family. That includes with my daughter, his wife, their two

children, my grand children. And, also, child support for his

first two children by a previous marriage.

He also has helped me financially as well as

physically when I have needed help off and on over the years.

I have noticed the counseling that Brendan is getting

has been very effective. I have noticed when he comes back from

his meetings with his counsellor, he is a lot more calm. His

demeanor is a lot more calm. As calm as you can be under these
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kind of circumstances. I believe it has been effective with

him.

I feel that he really should continue with that, and

it's been very helpful so far.

And I would like to ask for probation for him and the

continued counselling so that he can be with his family which is

a very important thing.

As you know, families don't stick together too much in

these times. And it's very important especially to those little

boys.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you.

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, in going over, it's true Mr.

Dunckley has four children, 10, 9, 7 and 3 which is set forth in

the presentence report. I think, you know, we have heard a lot

today in other cases and things like that. I think in this case

it really is true that this is really a sad case for everyone

involved.

It's not only sad for the two victims that Mr.

Dunckley committed these crimes against, but it is also sad for

the kids and his wife that are now going to have to deal with

these types of situations. And in light of these four kids, he

does have child support he needs to continue.

I think that in this case we really have to think

outside the box in sentencing. And it comes down to a lot of
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this coming from -- one of these cases is really old. And there

is a whole different type of sentencing structure at this point

in time. And now we are looking at a sentencing structure in

this system where we are looking at these cases differently.

I think if we look outside the box and really say how

can we properly make sure that Mr. Dunckley takes responsibility

for his action and so-called punishment for the crimes he

committed but also give him the opportunity to rehabilitate

himself and provide for those people so that other people, like

his kids and wife, are not victimized by his behavior. I think

his mother in law said it really well, in fact, when he takes

these therapy classes he is a different person.

Sometimes that's what people need. They need control

over their lives such as a probation to tell them they need to

go to probation and have a job and do these things. And I think

when we jump to the conclusion, let's throw this person away,

put him in jail for the rest of his life, if we do that, then we

are not helping anybody in this case.

I think that if we look at Mr. Stivensen's (phonetic)

recommendations, it talks about he specifically, in bold

letters, says Mr. Dunckley does not represent a high risk to

re-offend sexually. He goes on to say Mr. Dunckley presents as

a positive candidate for treatment.

Treatment process with Mr. Dunckley, treatment should
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be the process with Mr. Dunckley. He recognizes the need for

intervention. I think that assessment is correct. I think if

we allow Mr. Dunckley to be on probation, he will get the

treatment he needs.

There are certain recommendations that I think are

clearly appropriate in this case, Your Honor, and will help do

what we need to do to take care of the punishment of Mr.

Dunckley as well as rehabilitate him so these incidents do not

occur.

Those recommendations are set forth on page six of his

report. I would like the Court to consider those as well.

Your Honor, the report says Mr. Dunckley is not

applicable to probation. He does not have a high risk to

offend, so he does qualify for probation.

If the Court is inclined to do some type of jail term

in this-- prison term in this thing, we ask that you really do

think outside the box and give him an opportunity to prove

himself, even in prison.

There are two counts. We can suspend the first count

of the ten-year maximum and hold that over Mr. Dunckley's head

to allow him the opportunity to go into prison and do something

with his life and get himself out in a few years instead of ten

years when his kids basically are grown up and past their

teenage years.
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I think probation-- we are requesting you allow

probation in this case, but if you do not find probation is

appropriate, we do ask that you, at least, give him the

opportunity to go to prison on maybe one count. Hold the other

count above his head and sentence him according to the sentence

of probation which is two to five years on Count II, Your Honor.

I think Mr. Dunckley's statement at the back page

really sums it up about how remorseful he is and he did is want

an opportunity to be with his kids, pay his child support and

move forward and take responsibility of the two incidents that

caused him to be put in this position.

With that, I respectfully request that you allow for

probation.

THE COURT: Ms. Viloria?

MS. VILORIA: Judge, first of all, I want to state

that paragraph 11 of the guilty-plea memorandum allows me to

discuss with you any counts that were dismissed or any other

cases that were charged or uncharged which were either dismissed

or not pursued by the State at the time of sentencing. That's

important because you need to realize here who you are

sentencing today.

Hopefully today is going to be the end of Brendon

Dunckley and what we have to deal with him.

This has been ten years of inappropriate conduct, ten
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years of sexual attacks mostly on young woman who were 12 years

old or mentally ill and intoxicated cultivating into the final

account with the stranger attack with a woman who was .226 that

the defendant saw walking down the street, drunk and falling

down.

We did craft this creative plea bargain so this

defendant could have the right to posture himself to ask the

Court for sentencing. That's what he required before he came to

you and admitted his conduct and entered his plea of guilty.

The Court needs to know that your concern and the

State's concern are that the community have to be safe. And if

Brendon Dunckley is given probation, it will not be.

The factual corrections that I need to make on the

presentence investigation report in page six on March 21, 2007

when -- this is omitted so I'm just adding it in. When the

detectives went to talk to Brendon Dunckley and he denied he had

done anything, nothing happened, and when he ultimately changed,

yes, he performed fellatio on me as a way of thanking me for

getting her back in the apartment, that only came about after

the detectives said to him why are we going to find her DNA on

your penis?

The original story that this defendant crafted to

police is that while she was laying there unconscious she

started to throw up and he reached into your mouth to clear her
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tongue and follow that had gone to the bathroom and touched his

penis while urinating and that would be the story of why you

have DNA.

This defendant is sophisticated in the sense that he

uses his wife as an alibi during the attacks so his wife is

brought into the picture where she says, I was on the phone with

him the whole time. There is no way this could have occurred.

What the full investigation showed is there was a few minutes

where he said I need to call you right back in about five

minutes and the rape happened and he called his wife back. It

wasn't a true alibi.

This has been ten years. That's important for you to

know. There are not two victims, there are three. Jessica H.

Laura S, and also Ashley.

What concerns me is when you look at the evaluation

that that Dr. Stivensen (phonetic) reports, everything is on

self-admitted conduct. And Dr. Stivensen (phonetic) sort of

congratulates the defendant by that saying, Look, he came

forward with all these other incidents of sexual conduct. But

he calls Ashley 14 years old at the time when we all know she

was 12.

He is not being forthcoming, and the Court needs to

recognize that because Dr. Stivensen (phonetic) didn't say he is

a low risk to re-offend. He deemed him a moderate risk to
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re-offend. And that's based on the self-given information from

this defendant.

Judge as a parent -- from the recitation of all the

facts you see on everything, and, basically, how we ended up

solving the ultimate case is because the detectives and law

enforcement have been on this defendant's tail for years.

The defendant avoided any type of prosecution because

of the victims he has chosen.

Ashley V. is in prison right now. A good part of it

is because she turned to drugs and alcohol as being molested by

this defendant when she was little girl.

We created this allegation or this plea bargain so

that this defendant could ask you for probation, but the Court

needs to acknowledge Jessica, our last victim, is the one who is

a complete stranger to this defendant, didn't know anything,

literally woke up on her back in the floor of her apartment

right by the door with him shoving his penis in her mouth.

He comes to you today and brings witnesses to say he

is a good provider. We need to think about his children. We

can't put him in prison. I ask you one question, why wasn't he

thinking of that when he was trolling for his next sexual

assault victim?

Things have finally caught up with him, and that's why

we are here today. And the Division has appropriately asked the
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Court to give him life in prison with the possibility of parole

after ten years.

I do recognize following the day of this plea bargain,

and I would note for the Court not a day sooner, that the day

after he entered his plea of guilty he began his sex offender

treatment.

And the Court is concerned as is the State whether or

not all of this is posturing himself for some sort of beneficial

sentence or a good outcome for you today.

The reality is I have looked at the evaluation, and

there are a couple things in there that are alarming to me and I

want to point them out to you.

Beginning at page seven, the paragraph under

perception of victim impact. One of the things that Dr.

Stivensen (phonetic) noted that Mr. Dunckley believed both

victims were harmed--again, there were three victims--as he

described taking their since of security away inside, however,

was limited and somewhat superficial.

On page 11, Judge, it says, In considering the risk

scales along with clinical judgment, Mr. Dunckley is estimated

in the moderate range for sexual re-offense risk. Clinical

judgement elevated risk is there due to re-offense behaviors

occurring over an elapsed time and involved with an offense

against a stranger.
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His promiscuous and impulsive sexual lifestyle places

him at greater risks for further allegations and charges. There

is evidence of being indiscriminate in regards to victim

selection, meaning, his modus operandi is not limited to a

particular victim, type, age or preference.

The fact that an evaluator would put that in there

shows you the level of gravity of danger of this defendant. And

my concern is that the community is flat at risk.

He also states on page 12 under the amenability to

treatment and prognosis, the second full sentence, He, being

Brendan Dunckley, does not present as an antisocial or defiant,

though, there may be some resistance to treatment upon the

realization of a longer-term process.

Why that is important, Judge, is if this defendant is,

in fact, doing a posturing to present walk the walk and do all

he needs to do to present good in Court today, then anybody, any

woman, whether it's a 12 year old or 28 year old that comes

within his way is a risk.

The State cannot risk that, Judge. The community

cannot risk that.

This defendant has shown himself to be deserved a

grant of a prison sentence. The life in prison is appropriate.

He should be commended for the effort he has made, and

that's why when the Division recommends a concurrent sentence on
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the attempted sexual assault charge, it could be appropriate

here. I think the Division has short sold that count a little

bit because that's, really, the more egregious count. The whole

sexual assault nature of this should not be a two to five

sentence. It should be a 20-year sentence.

This defendant deserves to go to prison and life time

supervision and everything else that the Division recommends is

appropriate.

I just am concerned, frankly, Judge that nobody get

caught up on focussing on the children that are involved in this

case. Those are all people that should have been thought of

before this defendant decided to act on his impulse and attack

and escalate in violence. What's happened over the years,

Judge, every time he has raped somebody or inappropriately

touched someone and gotten away with it, he has gone up to the

next level.

The 12 year old is a friend of the family. A little

girl who befriended his wife who then became his victim number

one. There were victims in between there. Including the Laura,

the mental-health victim. We couldn't pursue the case because

of her mental-health issues. She was all part of this final

case where once we ended up getting the allegations with this

defendant with Jessica and we started seeing a pattern of

conduct, similarity in defenses, every single time his statement
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was to the law enforcement was, Yes, I shouldn't have sex with

this girl. It was bad judgment. And he just for years and

years, for ten years, has been able to get away with it to the

point where he is escalating where he is trolling where he sees

drunk women falling down drunk on the street, he formulates the

thought in his mind, followed her in the house, and in a very

opportunistic and predatory manner attacked her. That deserves

ten years in prison, minimum.

MR. O'MARA: If I can just respond to a few things

before Mr. Dunckley addresses the Court.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. O'MARA: First of all, there is no evidence

whatsoever that this charge caused Ms. Ashley -- I'm not sure

what her last name is. Ashley to go into drugs and use alcohol

and that's why she is in prison. There is no evidence of that.

And I understand that the D.A. wants to paint a huge horrible

picture of Mr. Dunckley and--

THE COURT: I won't consider that argument.

MR. O'MARA: It is also important that her description

of what happened on that night by Jessica was not as that she

woke up on her back past out. Her description in the Justice

Court when she testified was that she was standing up and she

made the affirmative step of walking toward Mr. Dunckley to

perform the fellatio.
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This just goes to the point of the D.A. not having all

the facts and telling you different stories. It has nothing to

do with Mr. Dunckley not taking responsibility of his action.

The Court should be aware that is the testimony.

Also, in regards of him going to counseling, it was

done before the guilty plea was entered into which was March

6th. His counseling started on March 3rd.

I want the Court to be aware that Mr. Dunckley was

charged with those allegations against the individual Laura.

Laura did not show up at the preliminary hearing even though the

District Attorney said she was more than willing to be there and

they contacted her. We went-- we had three or four hours of

testimony over in the Justice Court. She still did not show up.

It's disingenuous for the District Attorney to say it

was because of her mental stability, and we don't know or have

any documentation showing she had any mental stability. To

place that on Mr. Dunckley, it's inappropriate to bring up in

the sentence.

MS. VILORIA: Objection. I absolutely made a

representation as an officer of the Court as to that being the

issue. And you are allowed to think about her.

Mr. Dunckley refers to her throughout the report to

Dr. Stivensen (phonetic). She is the one who he attacked on the

hood of a car who he claims was consensual but he put his penis
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in her mouth.

I don't why we are acting like she is not a victim.

She did not show up at the prelim. We did not go forward with

that, and it is because of her mental-health issues. I am

making that -- and he knows that based on all the discovery

provided. I don't know why he is saying that's disingenuous.

It's not. It's the facts of the case.

MR. O'MARA: Well, we will let that stand. With

what-- if that's what she understands, that's what she

understands.

THE COURT: Does it make a difference?

MR. O'MARA: It doesn't. I'm just trying to set

forth --

THE COURT: Your client has admitted to the behavior

with her?

MR. O'MARA: Yes, my client has admitted to the two

charges that are involved in this case. But I just wanted to

make the Court away of those three or four different things so

we know what we are dealing with regards to thinking outside of

the box in this case to figure out some type of sentencing that

is appropriate which will allow for the punishment for the

crimes that were committed as well as allow for the

rehabilitation and acknowledgment of trying to get Mr. Dunckley

back into society and being a productive part of your society
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instead of just saying, We are trying to give you probation.

And let's see what we can do. And go out there and get some

type of treatment and go from there. We will come to

sentencing. We will take that into consideration.

I would like to introduce another document in that

regard. It's an e-mail between myself and Ms. Viloria that

really talks about--

MS. VILORIA: I'm going to object. This is outside

the context of negotiations. This is not appropriate for

sentencing. I'm going to object.

THE COURT: What is the appropriateness of

negotiations being admitted?

MR. O'MARA: I'm going through-- she has brought up

the fact he is just posturing, Your Honor --

MS. VILORIA: Judge, my statement is we don't know

whether he is or not. That's something we need to take a view

at it.

MR. O'MARA: Your Honor, if I can complete my

sentence, in the purpose of this, Your Honor, is to show that

when we were in negotiations of this case, that Ms. Viloria was

going to take into consideration what he did during this

five-month period. This was an e-mail that basically said I

understand you will not agree to probation if it is not

recommended.
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But in this case, as we discussed that there would be

factors in which she would take into consideration that she

would look at to maybe consider probation at this time.

THE COURT: Are you alleging that she has violated her

negotiations?

MR. O'MARA: No, no, no. Not at all. I'm just trying

to paint the picture of what was happening during that period of

time. And her statement in regards to, We don't know if he is

posturing goes directly to this. He was doing this because

that's what was asked of him--

THE COURT: I don't think that's her statement. Her

statement was talking about the whole period of time he has been

in counseling, whether or not it was going to last indefinitely

or whether or not he was posturing prior to sentence.

MS. VILORIA: That's right.

MR. O'MARA: We have made a circle of where we are

going in that regard, and that is fine, Your Honor.

With that, Your Honor, again, I request probation in

this is, and I will let Mr. Dunckley address the Court.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm going to hear from the Division

of Parole and Probation first.

MR. O'MARA: Okay.

MS. GARRISON: Well, Your Honor, in listening to both

sides of the argument, Your Honor, one of the things that was
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brought up was the fact that they didn't want to make his two

sons, I believe, victims in this matter because of his behavior.

I believe, Your Honor, he already has done that by his behavior.

They are going to grow up knowing the type of person

their father is, and that's not going to go unnoticed by them.

Your Honor, I believe that the recommendation as

stated is appropriate. I believe that he was opportunistic

regarding the victims that he chose.

My concern, as well as Ms. Viloria has stated, I was

reading the psycho-sexual evaluation and the one that stood out

in my mind was that he, according to the evaluator, seemed to

have glossed over, it seems like, the culpability or the damage

or the harm he did to the victims. Even though he did

acknowledge he did damage them in some manner.

The Division is going to stand by the recommendation,

Your Honor. We have four days credit for time served.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Dunckley, the law affords you an opportunity to be

heard. I have read your written statement. Do you have

anything you would like to say at this time?

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, the State is doing their

job. I moved to Reno in the Spring of 2000. The allegations

were made against me from 1998.

I took the plea as opposed to going to trial to
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prevent the victims from pursuing further.

Ms. Viloria states that I made the comment of saying

that the victim Ashley was 14 because of the time that I had

known her, which was the summer of 2000 when I met her, she

indicated to me that she was 14. As a matter of fact, when we

met, she indicated she was 17. Upon finding out later her true

age, myself and my wife stopped contact all together with her.

It doesn't change the fact of what I did.

Posturing, whatever it may be called, I took the deal

as opposed to going to trial because I wanted to prevent any

further harm to the victims.

I can't say I know what they are going through because

I can't. It's not my place to assume I know what they feel.

I know what I did, and I know what I took from them.

I took their sense of respect, of certainty. I can't give that

back.

I have attended treatment programs. I made it a point

to try and attend victim impact panels at one of the local

churches here.

When the Division and the State state that I glanced

over, it's not my place to say how I affected them. I can only

assume what happened.

And with regards to my children, I agree. They are

victims as well, as is my wife, as is my mother in law and

261



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Captions Unlimited of Nevada, Inc. 775-746-3534

25

everyone who knows me. And my reputation of being who I am as

an upstanding citizen, I took their trust a way, too.

Being a father is the most important thing to me in

the world. And knowing I'm a horrible example kills me more

than anything you can punish me with, Your Honor. I ask that I

be given the chance to show my children that people can make

differences in their life and make a change.

I pride myself that when my wife was pregnant I never

missed a single doctors appointment. I never missed an

appointment. I'm a dad through and through. Somewhere along

the line, I lost that. I disrespected my family and more

importantly I disrespected my family.

I love my family more than anything in the world. I

took this deal to prevent any further harm for them and for the

victims. I just ask to have the opportunity, if it's possible,

to continue to be a part of my children's life.

My wife didn't have a father growing up, and all she

ever wanted was a husband and a father to raise her children.

I'm the sole provider of my family. I have two

children who I owe money to, and I try being a single income

household and single income father, it is hard to get money to

them. I try and keep stable employment, and when I'm getting

laid off or working, I'm always working.

Your Honor, all I ask is for the opportunity to show
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that I can do better. And I can be better at this. I screwed

up, and I admit the fact I made mistakes and I hurt people. I

want to prove that it won't happen again. And if it does, which

I pray it never will, because I'm getting treatment every week.

I'm keeping support with the people I need support from. I have

medication to deal with my inability to make correct calm

decisions as opposed to being spontaneous.

I don't know what more I can say to Your Honor.

I throw my heart to you to allow me to be a part of my

children's lives, and I understand the fact I have hurt people.

But at the same time, the last five months have been such an

awakening to see why I allowed myself to do that and why I felt

it was okay to disrespect my bonds of my marriage and my

children who I brought into this world.

They don't deserve what I put them through, but that's

something I will have to deal with the rest of my life and so

will the victims.

I ask you give me the opportunity, Your Honor, to be

there and to prove that there is good. And I can make a

difference. And I can be productive to society and a benefit.

I learned so much from the victim impact panels and counseling.

It's something I want to pursue further to help people who are

in that situation. They need me to be the dummy to beat up, I

have no problem with that either. But I just ask that you give
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me that opportunity, Your Honor, to prove that I can do this and

not just the five months that I proved I can stay out of trouble

and make my appointments and meetings and go above and beyond

but continued to be allowed to do that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Dunckley, perhaps your plea would have

more resonance with me with regard to the issue that you had

with the friend of the family, even though it was a very young

girl, and even though you argue you thought she was 17, I have

heard that many times. That argument for treatment if it was an

isolated incident may well resonate with me.

However, the latest victim. I'm not talking about the

victim in between you are not charged with. I'm very concerned

with your latest victim. I agree with Mrs. Viloria. I don't

think that the sentence is recommended even by the Division is

appropriate given your behavior.

You picked someone you didn't know, and you committed

a sexual assault on her.

I know you pled to something that allows for a lesser

offense, but it does not allow for probation.

It is the order of this court you pay $25

administrative assessment fee, $150 in DNA testing fees. I

think you have already submitted to a DNA analysis test. So you

won't have to submit again, but you also will have to pay the

$950 in psycho-sexual fees.
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I am sentencing you as to Count I to life in prison

with the possibility of parole after ten years has been served.

As to Count II, I'm sentencing you to 120 months in

prison with minimum parole eligibility of 24 months. That will

be allowed to run concurrent to Count I.

You must pursuant to NRS 1760931 submit to lifetime

supervision.

And is that with regard to Count II only?

MS. VILORIA: No, it's to both counts, Judge.

THE COURT: As to both counts at any time you are

released from custody or released from parole.

You will be given credit for four days time served.

You are remanded to the custody of the Sheriff for

transportation to the warden.

(Whereupon the proceedings were concluded.)

-o0o-
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STATE OF NEVADA, )
) ss.

COUNTY OF WASHOE. )

I, LISA A. YOUNG, Certified Shorthand Reporter of the

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and

for the County of Washoe, do hereby certify:

That I was present in Department No. 4 of the

above-entitled Court and took stenotype notes of the proceedings

entitled herein, and thereafter transcribed the same into

typewriting as herein appears;

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true and

correct transcription of my stenotype notes of said proceedings.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 11th day of August,

2008.

/s/ Lisa A. Young
LISA A. YOUNG, CCR 353
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